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BENAVI DES, Circuit Judge:

Norbert AL Giffith appeals his conviction for conspiring to
possess marijuana wth the intent to distribute. He clains that a
federal agent who was not shown to be an expert in the jargon used
by drug deal ers gave inproper opinion testinony interpreting his
W retapped conversations with another suspect. He also contends
that the district court failed to adequately instruct the jury on
the Fifth Arendnent privilege against self-incrimnation after the
prosecutor inproperly comented on his failure to testify.

Giffith also appeals his sentence. W affirm



| .

Thi s case arose out of a Drug Enforcenent Adm nistration (DEA)
investigation into the marijuana trafficking activities of Kenneth
J. MIlan. From February 14 to March 1, 1995, the DEA lawful ly
w retapped two of MM Il an’s tel ephone |ines. The DEA intercepted
and recorded five conversations between McMIlan and Giffith;
three of these conversations were played at trial. Special Agent
Susan Nave identified the speakers and interpreted their cryptic
di al ogue for the jury, explaining that the conversations concerned
avai |l abl e quantities, prices, and qualities of marijuana. Thi s
testi nony was corroborated by Henry Ri chardson, a DEAintelligence
anal yst, who testified as an expert witness for the prosecution.

On March 1, 1995, the DEA and |l ocal police executed a search
warrant at the Giffith famly s hone at 2852 Pritchard Road,
Marrero, Louisiana.!? In a bedroom closet, along with nen’s
clothing and a rifle, they found a green duffel bag containing 40
clear plastic bags of marijuana wei ghi ng approxi mately 45 pounds.

Giffith s wfe, Roseanna, and his son, Scott, arrived hone
separately soon after the search. An agent asked Scott to page his
father electronically; he did so, and the appel | ant soon arrived at
the house in his red Ford pickup truck. He was arrested, and a

search of the truck turned up a daily planner containing two

The defense presented evidence that Giffith did not reside
in the honme at the tinme and argued that no incrimnating evidence
found there could be connected with him The jury necessarily
rejected this theory.



marijuana cigarettes, a partially snoked marijuana cigarette on the
driver’s side floorboard, and a small address book containing the
nanmes and phone nunbers of McM Il an and anot her co-defendant.
Giffith was indicted on a single count of conspiracy to
possess marijuana with intent to distribute in violation of 21
US C §841(a)(1l). 21 U.S.C. 8 846. He was convicted on Decenber
12, 1995, after a two-day jury trial, and was sentenced on June 19,
1996, to a prison termof 30 nonths.
1.
A
Language evolves to reflect the preoccupations of a culture.
As the scourge of drug abuse took root in the United States, a
vi vid sl ang vocabul ary devel oped to descri be various illegal drugs,
their consunption, and their effects. Just as the Eskinos
reputedly have 22 different words for snow,? we now have, by one
count, 223 terns for marijuana.® The nost comon of these terns,
such as “grass” and “pot,” are no doubt famliar to mllions of
Americans, and may be understood by juries wthout the aid of
expert w tnesses.

On the other hand, there is a specialized jargon endemc to

2Al t hough the accuracy of this claimhas been questioned in

recent years, “it is still undoubtedly true that . . . cultures
wth different needs are likely to have correspondingly different
vocabul aries.” Janet E. Ainsworth, Categories and Culture, 82

CoRNELL L. Rev. 19, 42 n.52 (1996).

SESTHER LEWN & ALBERT E. LEWN, THE THESAURUS OF SLANG 243 (1994).
See al so JONATHON GREEN, THE SLANG THESAURUS Xxiii (1986) (“‘The chief
stinmuli of slang are sex, noney and intoxicating |iquor,’ opined
Dr. J.Y.P. Geig in 1938. Bowing to current events one nust add
drugs to that list.”).



the illegal drug distribution industry. A primary purpose of this
jargon is to conceal fromoutsiders, through deliberate obscurity,
the illegal nature of the activities being discussed. Drug
traffickers will often refer to ordinary itens of commerce in lieu
of illegal narcotics. The Seventh Circuit infornms us that drug
deal ers have referred to their nerchandise as “three pairs of
boots” and as “pianos” sold by the kilogram See United States v.
Ronmero, 57 F.3d 565, 570 (7th Gr. 1995) (citations omtted).
Traffickers also have referred to a supply of heroin as “the boy”
or “the boyfriend,” and as “briefs” and “notions.” See United
States v. Simons, 923 F.2d 934, 946 (2d Gr.), cert. denied, 500
UsS 919, 111 S.C. 2018, 114 L.Ed.2d 104 (1991).

It is inplausible to think that jurors can understand such
arcane allusions wthout expert assistance. Drug traffickers’
jargon is a specialized body of know edge, famliar only to those
W se in the ways of the drug trade, and therefore a fit subject for
expert testinony. As one court observed, “There is no nore reason
to expect unassisted jurors to understand drug dealers’ cryptic
slang than antitrust theory or asbestosis.” United States v.
Delpit, 94 F.3d 1134 (8th Gr. 1996) (citation omtted). In short,
“Jurors as well as judges often need hel p in deci phering the jargon
of those engaged in the drug trade.” United States v. Walls, 70
F.3d 1323, 1326 (D.C. Cr. 1995), cert. denied, ---US.---, 116
S.Ct. 1445, 134 L.Ed.2d 565 (1996).

Qur own court has held nore generally that “an experienced

narcotics agent may testify about the significance of certain



conduct or nethods of operation to the drug distribution business,
as such testinony is often helpful in assisting the trier of fact
understand the evidence.” United States v. Washington, 44 F.3d
1271, 1283 (5th Gr.), cert. denied, ---U S ---, 115 S.C. 2011,
131 L. Ed.2d 1010 (1995). W have allowed |aw officers to testify
to the *“argot or seemngly secret jargon” used in drug noney
| aundering. United States v. Fuller, 974 F.2d 1474, 1482-83 (5th
Cr. 1992), cert. denied, 510 U. S. 835, 114 S.C. 112, 126 L.Ed. 2d
78 (1993). W see no reason the sane principle should not apply to
drug traffickers as well as their bankers.
B

The prosecution, as part of its case in chief, replayed two
W retapped conversations between Giffith and McM I I an. In the
first conversation, Giffith said that he went sonewhere to get “50
days of work” but that “there was only 39.” Agent Nave testified
that “days of work” was a euphem sm for “pounds of narijuana.”
Later in the conversation, the follow ng exchange took pl ace:

MM | | an: How was that man what you got from her?

Giffith: It’s . . . pretty decent. 1It’s not super super, but
it’s, it’s, ain't had no conplaints. The snell is
super. . . . [T]hey like that pine snell.

MM Ilan: Well, hey man, why don’t you, um pull nme a big
quarter aside, |I'll cone get it tonorrow. You got
sonme left?

Giffith: Yeah. OCh ain’t no problem . . . | got about two
weeks worth of work left.

MM I lan: Ckay, |I'’m sitting over here snoking ny very | ast
one.

Nave stated that this dialogue concerned the quality of a



shi pnrent of marijuana, the buyers’ satisfaction with it, and a
request by McMIlan that Giffith restock his supply.

In the second conversation, McM || an said he needed “to pul
toget her another 30.” Giffith replied that he did not have that
much, but had sone and expected nore in the next week. MMIIan
al so said that “these are going to go for 8" but that he would give
Giffith “a certain anount at that 5 price like |I told you.” He
asked for Giffith’s help “wth the other on the 8 mark.”

Nave testified that “30" nmeant a $30,000 shipnment of
marijuana, and that the “5 price” and “8 price” nmeant $500 and $800
a pound. She stated that McMIlan was discussing selling a
guantity of marijuana to Giffith for $500 a pound.

C.

Giffith s and MM Ilan’s references to marijuana prices and
quantities would have been inconprehensible to the jury wthout
assi stance froma w tness schooled in the ways of the drug trade.
Even if the references to the “pine snell” and “snoking” hinted at
the topic being discussed, Agent Nave's opinion testinony
undoubt edly was hel pful to the jury in deciphering the details of
the proposed transactions. Giffith clainms, however, that the
district court abused its discretion by allowi ng Nave to interpret
his w retapped conversations. He contends that the governnent
failed to carry its burden of proving, by a preponderance of the
evi dence, that Nave was an expert in the “jargon,” “argot,” or
“code words” of the wholesale drug trade. See Daubert v. Merrel

Dow Phar maceuticals, Inc., 509 U S. 579, ---, 113 S.Ct. 2786, 2796



n.10, L.Ed.2d (1993) (under Fep. R EviD. 104(a), the proponent of
expert testinony nust establish the witness’s qualifications by a
preponderance of proof (internal citation omtted)).

Giffith s argunent raises the threshold question of whether
Nave was in fact permtted to testify as an expert. As a fornal
matter, Nave was neither proffered as an expert by the prosecution
nor qualified as one by the district court. Nonet hel ess, the
district court questioned her about her experience as a drug
i nvestigator and repeatedly of fered def ense counsel the opportunity
to traverse or cross-exanine her as to her “expertise.”* Moreover,
Nave herself testified that her opinions were based on her
“know edge and experience.” Cf. FeED. R EviD. 702.

On balance, we think it is clear that the district court and
the parties treated Nave in substance as an expert. The question
is whether this was an abuse of discretion, Snap-Drape, Inc. v.
Comm ssi oner of Internal Revenue, 98 F.3d 194, 197 (5th Gr. 1996),
either because Nave was in fact wunqualified to give expert
testi nony, or because the court failed to formally qualify her.

We have little doubt that Nave was qualified to give expert
testinony regarding the ways of drug dealers. Her experience at
the tinme of trial included eight-and-one-half years as a DEA agent,
during which she participated in 50 investigations, working at

times in an undercover capacity. In her career, Nave surely has

“The district court itself was uncertain whether Nave had
testified as an expert. At the conclusion of the two-day trial,
the court told the jury: “W had sone expert w tnesses--one, at
| east, who testified, perhaps nore.” Richardson was unm stakably
an expert wtness; “perhaps” Nave testified as an expert as well.
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had anple opportunity to listen to drug dealers converse and to
deci pher the nuances of their conversations. Mreover, we are not
convinced that the governnent, having established Nave’'s
qualifications as an expert in drug trafficking generally, was
requi red to prove her particul ar know edge of drug deal ers’ jargon.
Def ense counsel coul d have questioned Nave's credentials at trial,
but chose not to traverse or cross-exam ne her on this issue.

We hold that there was no abuse of discretion in the district
court’s inplicit finding that Nave was qualified as an expert on
drug trafficking. She clearly was qualified by know edge and
experience to interpret drug dealers’ jargon; the subject *“had
esoteric aspects reasonably perceived as beyond the ken of the

jury,” Ronmero, 57 F.3d at 571 (internal citation omtted), making
it fit for an expert’s analysis; and her testinony shed |ight on
the crucial issue of Giffith’s wlling participation in a
marijuana distribution conspiracy. Nor did the court abuse its
discretion by failing to establish Nave's credentials until m dway
t hrough her testinony. At worst, the district court commtted a
technical error by failing to state that Nave was qualified as an
expert and by not requiring the governnment to establish her
credentials at the start of her testinony.

Mor eover, even assum ng that an abuse of discretion occurred,
it would provide no ground for reversal. The “erroneous adm ssion
of expert testinony is subject to harm ess error analysis.” United

States v. Krout, 66 F.3d 1420, 1433 (5th Cr. 1995) cert. denied,
---U. S ---, 116 S.C. 963, 133 L.Ed.2d 884 (1996); see FED. R CRM



P. 52(a).®> The alleged error in this case was harm ess for two
reasons. First, any error was one of formrather than substance.
Nave was clearly qualified; that her credentials were established
after she began her substantive testinony, rather than at its
outset, did not affect Giffith's substantial rights. Second,
Nave' s testinony was corroborated by that of Richardson, the DEA
intelligence analyst, an undi sputed expert. Even w thout Nave’'s
opinion testinony, the only plausible interpretation of the
conversations put forward at trial was that Giffith and McMI | an
wer e di scussing the purchase and sale in bulk of marijuana.

Finding no abuse of discretion and, alternatively, no
prejudice to Giffith's substantial rights, we hold that the
adm ssion of Nave's opinion testinony in the absence of her forma
qualification as an expert was not reversible error.

L1,

Giffith clainms that the prosecutor violated his Fifth
Amendnent privilege against self-incrimnation by commenting,
during her closing argunent, on his failure to take the stand. The
prosecutor, Assistant United States Attorney Mary Jude Darrow,
concedes that her comrent was an error of constitutional nmagnitude.
Nevert hel ess, she contends that the district court corrected the
error t hr ough its curative instructions to the jury.
Alternatively, Darrow, who argued this appeal, nmaintains that any

deficiency in the district court’s instructions was harmess in

SRule 52(a) states: “Any error, defect, irregularity or
variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be
di sregarded.”



light of the “overwhel m ng evidence of Giffith’s guilt.”
A

The Fifth Amendnent provides that “[n]Jo person . . . shall be

conpelled in any crimnal case to be a witness agai nst hinself
. U S, Const. amend. V. This guarantee would be enfeebled if
prosecutors were free to suggest, and juries to infer, that
def endant s who exercised the “right toremain silent” were probably
guilty. Consequently, the Suprenme Court has condemmed adverse
coment on the defendant’s failure to testify as “a remmant of the
inquisitorial systemof justice” and “a penalty inposed by courts
for exercising a constitutional privilege.” Giffinv. California,
380 U.S. 609, 614, 85 S. Ct. 1229, 1232-33, 14 L.Ed.2d 106 (1965)
(internal quotation marks, citation, and footnote omtted); see
also Carter v. Kentucky, 450 U S. 288, 297-98, 101 S. C. 1112,
1118, 67 L.Ed.2d 241 (1981). The rule is thus well established
that a prosecutor “may not comment directly or indirectly on a
defendant’s failure to testify.” United States v. Fierro, 38 F. 3d
761, 771 (5th Gr. 1994) (citation omtted), cert. denied, ---U S -
--, 115 S.Ct. 1388, 131 L.Ed.2d 240 (1995); United States v. Dul a,
989 F.2d 772, 776 (5th Cr.) (citations omtted), cert. denied, 510
US 859, 114 S .. 172, 126 L.Ed.2d 131 (1993).
B.

Darrow violated this rule. By Darrow s own account, Giffith
kept up a running commentary at the defense table during her
rebuttal argunment. The transcript does not reveal what Giffith

said or how loudly he spoke. But Darrow, vexed by Giffith's
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comentary, broke off her argunent in m d-sentence, turned to him
and asked, “Wuld you like to take the stand and testify?”

Al nost i mmedi ately after Darrow s conment, the district court
adnoni shed the jury to disregard it. At a sidebar conference,
def ense counsel objected to the prosecutor’s coment and noved for
a mstrial. Counsel did not specifically explain the grounds for
his objection, stating only that Darrow s conment was “totally out
of line, highly inproper.” Counsel also stated his opinion that no
adnonition to the jury could cure the error. The district court
denied the mstrial notion, but instructed the jury:

Ladi es and gentlenen, let me rem nd you in the strongest

of terms, once again, as | have done in the past, the

def endant is presuned innocent throughout the course of

the trial. He is presuned innocent until such tinme, if

ever, the governnent is able to prove his gquilt by

evi dence beyond a reasonabl e doubt. That presunption of

innocence, as | wll tell you once again in a few

monments, is enough to result in the acquittal of the
defendant in the absence of proof beyond a reasonable
doubt . M. Giffith has absolutely no obligation

what soever to produce any evidence of innocence at all.

You are to disregard Ms. Darrow s comments to M.

Giffith, and you are to disregard M. Giffith's

appar ent out burst.

Def ense counsel did not object to this instruction. Nor did
the defense ever request a specific instruction on the Fifth
Amendnent privilege against self-incrimnation. On appeal,
however, Giffith contends that the district court erred by failing
to specifically instruct the jury on the privilege.

C.
Because the defense did not object to the district court’s

curative instructions at trial, our reviewis governed by the plain
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error standard. See FED. R CRM P. 52(b).® See also United States
v. Oano, 507 U S 725, 113 S.C. 1770, 123 L.Ed.2d 508 (1993);
United States v. Calverley, 37 F.3d 160 (5th Gr. 1994) (en banc),
cert. denied, ---US. ---, 115 S. C. 1266, 131 L.Ed.2d 145 (1995).
An appell ate court may correct an error under this standard only if
t he appel |l ant denonstrates that there was error; that the error was
“plain;” and that it affected his substantial rights. 1d. at 162-
164.

We conclude without difficulty that the district court erred
by failing to instruct the jury on the Fifth Anmendnent privil ege.
An error is sinply “a deviation froma legal rule in the absence of
a valid waiver.” Calverley, 37 F.3d at 162 (citing dano, 113
S.C. at 1777). The prosecutor violated a constitutional rule by
comenting on Giffith’s failureto testify, and the district court
failed in its obligation to correct the error. In the curative
i nstruction quoted above, the district court rem nded the jury that
Giffith was presuned innocent and that the governnent had the
burden of proving himguilty beyond a reasonabl e doubt. The court
neglected totell the jury that Giffith had a constitutional right
not to testify, and that his exercise of that right could not be
held against him Indeed, the record reflects that the jury was
never instructed on the Fifth Anmendnent right to remain silent.
Apart fromits adnonition to disregard the prosecutor’s remark

then, the district court |left the constitutional error uncorrected.

Rule 52(b) states: “Plain errors or defects affecting
substantial rights may be noti ced al t hough t hey were not brought to
the attention of the court.”

12



In our view, the error was plain, in the sense that the renedy
for Darrows inproper comment should have been “clear” and
“obvious.” Cf. Calverley, 37 F.3d at 162. An error is plainif it
is “so conspicuous that ‘the trial judge and prosecutor were
derelict in countenancing [it], even absent the defendant’s tinely
assistance in detecting [it].” |Id. at 163 (quoting United States
v. Frady, 456 U S. 152, 163, 102 S.C. 1584, 1592, 71 L.Ed.2d 816
(1982)).

In the instant case, the prosecutor’s initial constitutional
bl under was i mredi ately clear. As Darrow herself told this court,
“I knew immedi ately it was i nappropriate, it was inproper, and it
shoul d never have conme out of ny nouth.” The district court
mani festly recogni zed this, rebuking Darrow, ordering the jury to
disregard her renmark, and enphatically--if ineffectually--
instructing the jury on the burden of proof and presunption of
i nnocence. The proper renedy should have been as obvious as the
initial constitutional error; a Fifth Arendment violation calls for
a Fifth Anendnent instruction. Instructions on the burden of proof
and presunption of innocence “are no substitute for [an] explicit
instruction” on the Fifth Anendnent privilege. Carter, 450 U. S. at
304, 101 s.¢. at 1121.°

Nevertheless, Giffith has failed to establish that the

district court’s error affected his “substantial rights.” See

I'n Carter, the court’s duty to instruct the jury on the Fifth
Amendnent privilege arose when the defense requested such an
i nstruction. In this case, the duty was triggered by Darrow s
coment. The distinctionis immaterial to our analysis.

13



Calverley, 37 F.3d at 164 (“The burden of persuasion lies with the
defendant.”). Consequently, we have no authority to correct the
district court’s error. |Id.

W nmust consider the prosecutor’s remark and the judge's
response in context. “To determne the potential prejudicial
effect of the statenents, we nust consider the context in which the
prosecutor nmade them” United States v. Pierre, 958 F.2d 1304,
1312 (5th Gr.) (en banc), cert. denied, 506 U S. 898, 113 S. Ct
280, 121 L.Ed.2d 207 (1992); Fierro, 38 F.3d at 771 (citations
omtted). In determ ning whether a defendant has been prejudiced
by an adverse coment on his failure to testify, our harml ess error
analysis in United States v. Shaw is instructive:

We have found harm ess error in cases where reference to

the [defendant’s] silence was neither nade nor elicited

by the prosecution; where the prosecution did not “focus

on” or “highlight” the reference; where the comment did

not “strike at the jugular” of the defendant’s defense;

and where there was no further nention of the silence,

and there was “strong evi dence” of the defendant’s guilt.

Shaw, 701 F.2d 367, 383 (5th Cr. 1983) (citations omtted), cert.
denied, 465 U. S. 1067, 104 S. C. 1419, 79 L.Ed.2d 744 (1984).

In this case the comment was obvi ously nade by the prosecutor
herself, and at a crucial tinme when the jury's attention should
have been riveted on her argunent. The potential for serious harm
was present. However, it was an isolated coment, which did not
“strike at the jugular” of the defense, and which the jury was
imediately instructed to disregard. Moreover, no one has

suggested that it was a calculated appeal to the jury; to all

appearances, Darrow s was a spontaneous remark intended to call

14



attention to Giffith's disruptive behavior during her argunent,
and not to inply that he was harboring guilty secrets.

Finally, and we think significantly, the prosecution’s
evidence against Giffith was strong. H s tape-recorded
conversations, the discovery of approximately 40 pounds of
marijuana in his hone, and the seizure of marijuana cigarettes from
his truck are all highly incrimnating. W are confident that the
jury, following the district court’s instruction to disregard
Darrow s coment, convicted Giffith based on the evidence and not
because of his refusal to testify. Accordingly, we find that the
district court’s error did not affect Giffith's substantial
rights, and that Giffith has failed to satisfy the third prong of
the A ano test.

Moreover, even were we to find that Giffith' s substanti al
ri ghts had been affected, we would nonethel ess be unable to grant
relief under Rule 52(Db). Under the “fourth prong” of the O ano
test, we nay exercise our discretion to notice a forfeited error

only when “the error seriously affect[s] the fairness, integrity,

or public reputation of judicial proceedings.” Johnson v. United
States, ---U.S.---, ---S.C.---, ---L.Ed. 2d---, 1997 W. 235102 ( May
12, 1997) (internal quotation marks and citations omtted). In the
circunstances of this case, and particularly in light of the

dami ng wiretap and physical evidence of Giffith's conplicity in
the conspiracy, a refusal to notice the error would in no way
seriously underm ne the “fairness, integrity, or public reputation

of judicial proceedings.”

15



| V.

Giffith challenges two aspects of his sentence. First, he
clains that the district court assigned hi ma base offense | evel of
18 based on an erroneous finding that 20.43 kil ograns of marijuana
was seized from the Pritchard Road house. See U.S. SENTENCI NG
QUIDELINES ManuAL 8 2D1.1(c)(11) (Drug Quantity Table) (1995).
Second, he clains that his offense | evel was increased by 2 based
on an incorrect determ nation that he possessed a danger ous weapon
in connection with the offense.

Factual findings used in sentencing need only be supported by
a preponderance of the evidence. United States v. Murning, 914
F.2d 699, 706 (5th Gr. 1990). W review challenges to such
findings for clear error. United States v. Manges, 110 F.3d 1162,
1178 (5th Gir. 1997).

A

Giffith clains that the marijuana seized from his house
wei ghed less than 20 kilograns and therefore warranted a base
of fense | evel of 16 rather than 18. See U.S.S.G 88 2D1.1(c)(11),
(12). He cites the supposed trial testinony of DEA agent Don
Dougl as that the duffel bag found in the bedroom cl oset contained
39 one-pound bags of marijuana. Thirty-ni ne pounds equals 17.7
kil ograns; therefore, Giffith clains, the district court erred in
its finding that 20.43 kilograns of nmarijuana was sei zed.

Giffith msstates the substance of Douglas’ testinony. The
agent stated: “[We eventually found 45 pounds of marijuana in the

closet in a green duffel bag.” He testified that there were 40
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pl astic bags of marijuana in total, not 39, and reiterated that
their total weight was about 45 pounds. Perhaps nore inportant, a
DEA |lab report cited by the district court in its judgnent of
conviction and sentence stated that the marijuana seized from
Giffith’ s hone weighed 45.05 pounds--the equivalent of 20.43
ki |l ograns.

We perceive no error, and certainly no clear error, in the
district court’s finding that 20.43 kilograns of marijuana was
seized fromGiffith' s hone.?

B

The guidelines provide for a 2-level enhancenent “[i]f a
dangerous weapon (including a firearnm was possessed ”
US S G 8§ 2D1.1(b)(1). This adjustment “should be applied if the
weapon was present, unless it is clearly inprobable that the weapon
was connected with the offense.” United States v. Broussard, 80
F.3d 1025, 1041 (5th Gr.) (quoting U S.S.G § 2D1.1 cnt. 3), cert.
denied, ---U.S.---, 117 S .. 264, 136 L.Ed.2d 189 (1996).

Giffith argues on several grounds that the district court
clearly erred by inposing a 2-level weapon enhancenent. The
district court justified the increase on the ground that “therifle
was found next to the drugs and a | oaded magazine was found in
defendant’s residence.” Giffith first attacks the finding that a

| oaded magazi ne was found in the Pritchard Road house. Hi s theory,

8At one point inits brief, the governnent appears to concede
that the DEA overstated the weight of the marijuana by failing to
subtract the weight of the plastic wappers (400 grans). Any such
error was harm ess, since the remainder, 20.03 kilograns, stil
warrants an offense | evel of 18.
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evidently, is that if no anmunition was found, thenit is “clearly
i nprobabl e that the weapon was connected with the offense.”

We reject both the theory and the factual assertion on which
it rests. First, assum ng arguendo that no ammunition was found,
it does not necessarily follow that it was “clearly inprobable”
that Giffith's rifle was connected with his offense. There is no
suggestion in the guidelines or commentary that unl oaded weapons
are exenpt fromthe 2-level enhancenent in Section 2D1.1(b)(1).

Moreover, even if we were to accept Giffith's theory, it is
unsupported by the record. In an addendum to the Presentence
| nvestigation Report (PSR), the probation officer stated that
“according to the DEA agents, a |oaded magazi ne was seized from
Giffith s house.” The report of a probation officer is generally
considered reliable enough “to be considered by the trial court as
evidence in nmaking the factual determnations required by the
sentencing guidelines.” United States v. Wst, 58 F.3d 133, 138
(5th Cr. 1995) (quoting United States v. Bernea, 30 F.3d 1539,
1575 (5th Cr. 1994), cert. denied, 513 U. S. 1156, 115 S. C. 1113,
130 L. Ed. 2d 1077 (1995)) (additional citations omtted). Giffith
has proffered no evidence to overcone the presunption that the
docunents prepared by the probation officer for sentencing are
accurate and reliable. The district court did not clearly err in
findi ng, by a preponderance of the evidence, that a | oaded magazi ne
was seized fromGiffith's house.

Giffith next contends that even |eaving aside the issue of

t he | oaded magazine, it was “clearly i nprobable” that his rifle was

18



connected with the offense. He clains that the weapon was a
souvenir of his Vietnam War service, and that to the best of his
know edge it was inoperable. However, the DEA tested the weapon
and found it in working order. Mreover, the rifle was not found
in a trophy case or gun cabinet, but in the sane closet as the
duffel bag full of marijuana. The nexus between t he weapon and t he
offense is not difficult to discern. “The Governnent may satisfy
its burden of proving a connection between the weapon and the
of fense by showi ng that the weapon was found in the sanme |ocation
where drugs . . . [were] stored . . . .” United States v. Flucas,
99 F.3d 177, 179 (5th Cr. 1996), cert. denied, ---US ---, 117
S.C. 1097, 137 L.Ed.2d 229 (1997). Accord United States wv.
Eastl and, 989 F. 2d 760, 770 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 510 U S. 890,
114 S. Ct. 246, 126 L.Ed.2d 200 (1993). The court below did not
clearly err by concluding that the governnent net this burden.

Finally, appellant urges this court to extend the rational e of
Bailey v. United States, ---U.S.---, 116 S.C. 501, 133 L. Ed. 2d 472
(1996), to the present context. W decline to do so. Not only is
Giffith s argunent unpersuasive; it alsois forecl osed by our case
law. See United States v. Castillo, 77 F.3d 1480 (5th Gr.), cert.
denied, ---U.S.---, 117 S.C. 180, 136 L.Ed.2d 120 (1996).

Bai |l ey i nvol ved a federal statute inposing a five-year m ni nrum
sentence on any person who “uses or carries a firearni in relation
to a violent crinme or a drug trafficking offense. 18 U.S.C. 8§
924(c)(1). The Suprene Court held that the statute required, for

conviction, “an active enploynent of the firearmby the defendant,
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a use that nmakes the firearman operative factor inrelation to the
predi cate offense.” ld. at ---, 116 S.Ct. at 505 (enphasis in
original). Giffith contends that the sane standard should apply
inthe context of U S.S.G 8§ 2D1.1(b)(1). The guideline, however
applies when the defendant “possesses” a dangerous weapon.
“Possessi on” does not presuppose that the defendant used or carried
t he weapon, so Bailey' s “active enpl oynent” standard i s i napposite.

Moreover, as this court explained in Castillo, “the Suprene
Court took great pains in Bailey to limt its holding to the term
“use” as that termis enployed in U S.C. 8§ 924(c)(1), the statute
at issue in Bailey.” Castillo, 77 F.3d at 1499 n.34. There is no
reason t o suppose the Suprene Court woul d extend Bail ey’ s reasoni ng
to the circunstances before us today.

The district court did not clearly err in its determ nation

that Giffith “possessed” a weapon in connection wth his offense,

even if Giffith did not brandish or fire the weapon.

V.

Appel l ant’ s conviction and sentence are AFFI RVED
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